STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Sumter County
George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 23 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Opinion No. 2018-UP-187 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 9, 2018)
Indictment No. 2014-GS-43-0524

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RODNEY R. GREEN,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002443

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Where Petitioner was charged with murder and attempted murder, did the trial judge err by instructing the jury on the doctrine of transferred intent, which improperly allowed the jury to (1) substitute the general intent of murder for the specific intent of attempted murder, (2) equate malice with a specific intent to kill, and (3) find Petitioner guilty of attempted murder of an unintended person?

II. Did the trial judge err in failing to grant Petitioner's motion for mistrial, or instruct the jury to disregard expert testimony regarding ballistics, where the police officer who found the shell casings at the scene did not testify and no other witnesses could testify that the shell casings introduced at trial or tested by the expert were the shell casings found at the scene, which violated Petitioner's rights under the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During its July 2014 term, a Sumter County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder of Tyrus Archie, attempted murder of Ray'Quann Jenkins, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and possession of a stolen handgun (2014-GS-43-0524). R. 706-707. The state, represented by Ernest A. Finney, III, called the case to trial before the Honorable George C. James, Jr., and a jury on November 9, 2015. R. 1. Charlie Johnson represented Petitioner. R. 1.

During the trial, the state introduced shell casings and ballistics test results without establishing a proper chain of custody, thereby denying Petitioner of his cross-examination rights. Further, the judge instructed the jury regarding transferred intent, permitting the jury to use general intent and malice of murder to satisfy the specific intent element of attempted murder and allowing the jury to find Petitioner guilty of attempted murder of an unintended person.

Ultimately, the jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. R. 688, ll. 7-19. The judge sentenced Petitioner to life imprisonment without the possibility for parole for murder, to thirty years imprisonment for attempted murder, to five years imprisonment for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and to time served for possession of a stolen pistol. R. 696, ll. 9-17; R. 708-711.

On November 16, 2015, Petitioner served his notice of appeal, which was perfected by undersigned counsel. On May 9, 2018, without the benefit of oral argument, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences. State v. Green, 2018-UP-187 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 9, 2018); App. 1-2. On May 24, 2018, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing asking the Court of Appeals to rehear two issues. App. 4-21. On June 21, 2018, the Court denied the petition for rehearing. App. 22-23. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

I. Where Petitioner was charged with murder and attempted murder, the trial judge erred by instructing the jury on the doctrine of transferred intent, which improperly allowed the jury to (1) substitute the general intent of murder for the specific intent of attempted murder, (2) equate malice with a specific intent to kill, and (3) find Petitioner guilty of attempted murder of an unintended person.

Reasons to grant certiorari

Petitioner was charged with murder and attempted murder. Over objection, the judge instructed the jury regarding the doctrine of transferred intent. The erroneous instruction violated Petitioner's substantial constitutional right to require the state to prove every element of the attempted murder offense, and the resolution of the issue by the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions by the United States Supreme Court regarding the federal question presented. See Rule 242(b)(4) & (5), SCACR. By holding "South Carolina's criminal laws require imposition of the doctrine of transferred intent," the Court of Appeals rendered an opinion in direct conflict with this Court's recent decision in State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2018). See Rule 242(b)(3), SCACR.¹ Finally, the Court of Appeals' opinion addressed novel questions of law regarding specific intent crimes. See Rule 242(b)(1), SCACR.

Relevant facts

The state alleged Petitioner killed Tyrus Archie with malice aforethought. R. 706-707. Additionally, the state alleged Petitioner "did with intent to kill, attempt to kill another person,

¹ To affirm Petitioner's convictions, the Court of Appeals cited its own case of State v. Williams, Op. No. 5540 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 28, 2018) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 9 at 112). State v. Green, 2018-UP-187 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 9, 2018); App. 2.

Tyrus Archie, with malice aforethought, either express or implied, by shooting Rayquann Jenkins.” R. 706-707.

Charge conference

The state requested a jury instruction on “transferred intent.” R. 605, ll. 5-11. Specifically, the state requested “that either if the jury thought that he was - - that the shooter was trying to kill Mr. Archie or harm Mr. Archie, and that he shot and hit Mr. Jenkins.” R. 605, ll. 8-11. The judge responded that “a general intent to kill” would cover such a scenario. R. 605, ll. 12-13. Petitioner objected, explaining there was no evidence that Jenkins was shot by the gun allegedly connected to Petitioner. R. 605, l. 20 – R. 606, l. 3.

After reviewing State v. King, 412 S.C. 403, 772 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2015), the trial judge indicated he could not instruct the jury on transferred intent based upon the requirement of a specific intent to kill for attempted murder. R. 608, l. 11 – R. 609, l. 2. Undaunted, the state continued to argue for the transferred intent instruction. R. 609, ll. 14-18. The solicitor candidly admitted the evidence did not show “what was in the shooter’s mind about whether he wanted to kill Mr. Archie, Mr. Jenkins, or both.” R. 609, ll. 18-20.

After a short break, the judge ruled that although the Court of Appeals “said that a specific intent to kill is necessary,” the court had not said “there has to be a specific intent to kill any certain person.” R. 610, ll. 12-17. The judge ruled a “transferred intent charge in some fashion would be appropriate” as “common sense has to prevail at some point.” R. 610, ll. 17-20. The judge espoused his belief that it would “quite frankly ... defy common sense that someone could shoot. Just in any given case, shoot into a crowded room of people meaning to kill person A, but hits person Z. And you can’t be found guilty of that crime by the reason of transferred intent.” R. 612, ll. 1-6. Petitioner reiterated his objection, and noted there was no

evidence Petitioner “was aiming at Mr. Archie.” R. 610, ll. 20-24; R. 612, ll. 7-10. The judge clarified that he intended to charge the jury that “if a person with malice aforethought attempts to kill another person, but by mistake injures or kills a different person, and the defendant still has the specific intent to kill.” R. 610, ll. 15-20.

Jury instructions

Charging the jury with the elements of murder, the judge explained that state must present “proof beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant killed another person with malice aforethought.” R. 663, ll. 9-14. He defined malice as “hatred, ill will or hostility towards another person.” R. 663, ll. 14-16. He further defined malice as “the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse, and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law would infer an evil intent.” R. 663, ll. 16-19. The judge explained that malice aforethought could be “either express or it can be implied.” R. 664, ll. 1-2. “Express malice may be shown when a person speaks words that express hatred or ill will for another person. Or when the person prepared beforehand to do the act which was later accomplished.” R. 664, ll. 7-11. Additionally, the judge told the jurors, malice “may be implied from conduct showing a total disregard for human life.” R. 664, ll. 12-13. “Implied malice may also arise when the act is done with a deadly weapon,” including a pistol. R. 664, ll. 13-23.

Thereafter, the judge instructed the jury on attempted murder, explaining, the state was required to prove Petitioner “with the intent to kill, attempted to kill another person with malice aforethought express or implied.” R. 665, ll. 4-10. He reiterated his earlier instruction regarding malice, including the instruction permitting an inference of malice from the use of a deadly weapon. R. 665, l. 11 – R. 666, l. 10. The judge then instructed the jury regarding specific intent:

Now, ladies and gentlemen, on the issue or the count of attempted murder, proof of attempted murder requires proof of a specific intent to kill. *Specific intent does not mean an intent to kill a specific person*, but rather that the defendant consciously intended the completion of acts that comprise the act of attempted murder. And the word intent as I will tell you in more detail later, means intending the result which actually occurs and not accidentally or involuntary.

R. 666, l. 11-20 (emphasis added). Turning to transferred intent, the judge instructed:

Now, ladies and gentlemen, I further charge you that if a person with malice aforethought attempts to kill another person, but by mistake injures or kills a different person, then that person based on your view of the evidence, has the specific intent to kill. The intent to kill in that regard would be merely transferred from the original person the defendant attempted to kill, to the person who was actually killed or injured.

R. 667, ll. 9-18.²

Discussion

“Criminal liability normally is based upon the concurrence of two factors: the defendant’s criminal intent and the actual, physical act constituting the offense.” State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 271, 531 S.E.2d 512, 515 (2000). “A defendant may not be convicted of a criminal offense unless the state proves beyond a reasonable doubt that he acted with the criminal intent, or mental state, required for that particular offense.” Id.

Recently, the South Carolina General Assembly created the crime of attempted murder. Lawmakers defined the offense as: “A person who, *with intent to kill*, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (emphasis added). In its first, and only, case interpreting the statutory offense, this Court held the Legislature intended to require the state prove the defendant had a

² During the deliberations, the jury requested written statements of witnesses and transcripts of the trial testimony. R. 677, ll. 12-16; R. 680, ll. 9-12. The jury also wanted “the legal definition for murder.” R. 680, ll. 9-12. The judge re-charged the jurors with definition of murder, including an instruction on general criminal intent and malice. R. 684, l. 12 – R. 687, l. 4. Shortly after this instruction, the jury returned its guilty verdicts. R. 688, ll. 7-19.

specific intent to commit murder as an element of attempted murder. State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 55, 810 S.E.2d 18, 22 (2017).

Implied malice is not specific intent to kill

In King, this Court addressed the “implications of the phrase ‘malice aforethought, either express or implied’” as used in the statute. Id. at 56, 810 S.E.2d at 22. Citing Keys v. State, 766 P.2d 270 (Nev. 1988), this Court explained how the Nevada Supreme Court clarified how to distinguish between attempted murder and murder by analogizing express malice to a specific intent to kill. Id. at 57, 810 S.E.2d at 23. To explain the interplay between express malice and specific intent to kill, this Court quoted the Nevada Court: “‘Attempted murder can be committed only when the accused’s acts are accompanied by express malice, malice in fact. One cannot attempt to kill another with implied malice because there is no such criminal offense as an attempt to achieve an unintended result.’” Id. (quoting Keys, 766 P.2d at 273) (internal quotation omitted) (emphasis in original). Further, this Court explained that “one cannot ... attempt to have the general malignant recklessness contemplated by the legal concept, ‘implied malice.’” Id. (internal quotation omitted). In short, “[o]ne cannot be guilty of attempted murder by implied malice because implied malice does not encompass the essential specific intent to kill.” Id. However, “[a]n attempt to kill with express malice is” “completely consistent with the specific intent requirement of the crime of attempt.” Id. (emphasis in original). “Attempted murder is the performance of an act or acts which tend, but fail, to kill a human being; when such acts are done with express malice, namely, with the deliberate intention unlawfully to kill.” Id. (internal quotation omitted).

This Court explained that assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK), which was supplanted by the codification of attempted murder, required “the same general intent as murder.” Id. at 59, 810 S.E.2d at 24. After recounting prior law interpreting ABWIK, this Court noted that

our appellate courts had interpreted malice aforethought and general intent to kill, as required under ABWIK, as the equivalent of each other. Id. at 60-61, 810 S.E.2d at 25. In sharp contrast, statutory attempted murder required “intent to kill” *and* “malice aforethought,” which this Court interpreted to mean the Legislature intended to “elevate[] the required mental state above a general-intent crime.” Id. at 61, 810 S.E.2d at 25.

In Fennell, this Court permitted the application of the doctrine of transferred intent where the defendant intended to kill one person, which he did, but the defendant also killed a second unintended person. Fennell, 340 S.C. at 272, 531 S.E.2d 515. This Court recognized that “the defendant did not act with malice toward the unintended person,” but allowed the defendant’s “mental state of malice” to be transferred to the unintended person to support a conviction for assault and battery with intent to kill, which only required a showing of malice. Id. This Court held “the doctrine of transferred intent may be used to convict a defendant of ABIK when the defendant kills the intended victim and also injures an unintended victim.” Id. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 517. Transferred intent could apply where the *mens rea* for the two offenses was the same. After all, “it is the *mens rea* which is determinative of whether transferred intent should be applied in the appropriate case.” Pettigrew v. State, 927 A.2d 69, 79 (Md. 2007); see also People v. Slater, 924 N.E.2d 1039, 1047 (Ill. App. Ct. 2009) (calling “transferred intent” a “misnomer” and finding “transferred mental state” to be a more accurate term).

However, “[i]n the context of an attempt crime, specific intent means the defendant intended to complete the acts comprising the underlying offense.” State v. Reid, 393 S.C. 325, 329, 713 S.E.2d 274, 276 (2011). “The act constituting the attempt must be done with intent to commit that particular crime.” State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 397, 532 S.E.2d 283, 285 (2000)

(internal quotation omitted). The defendant must “consciously intend” the completion of acts comprising the offense. Id.

In State v. Bryant, 316 S.C. 216, 447 S.E.2d 852 (1994), this Court confronted a similar question. An officer attempted to arrest Bryant for failure to stop for a blue light. Id. at 218, 447 S.E.2d at 853. Bryant and the officer struggled. Id. at 218, 447 S.E.2d at 853-854. During the struggle, Bryant pushed the officer against the patrol car causing damage in excess of \$200. Id. at 218, 447 S.E.2d at 854. At his trial for malicious injury to personal property – the police car, Bryant moved for a directed verdict because there was no evidence of intent to cause damage to the car. Id.

After explaining that the state was required to show “willful, unlawful and malicious damage” to the police car, the Court explained that willful was synonymous with intentional. Id. at 219, 447 S.E.2d at 854. Based on the evidence presented, the state failed to provide any evidence that Bryant intended to cause damage to the patrol car when he pushed the officer against it. Id. “The only reasonable inference from the evidence [was] that the damage to the patrol car was an unintended harm.” Id. Bryant’s “intent to assault and batter the police officer [could not] be transferred to the property damage since the harm caused was different from the type of harm intended.” Id. There was no evidence that Bryant willfully caused harm to the car. Id.

When the judge incorrectly told the jurors that if a person with malice aforethought attempts to kill another person, but by mistake injures or kills a different person, then that person has the specific intent to kill the person injured, he conflated malice and general criminal intent with a specific intent to kill. See R. 667, ll. 9-18. He then compounded the error by permitting the jurors to transfer that “intent to kill,” which he had effectively defined as malice, from the original person the defendant attempted to kill, to the person who was actually killed or injured. R. 667, ll. 9-18. See State v. Higgins, 826 A.2d 1126, 1141 (Conn. 2003) (explaining the bar to

application of the transferred intent doctrine when the *mens rea* requirements of the two offenses are different); State v. Robinson, 883 P.2d 764, 767-768 (Kan. 1994) (holding that the transferred intent doctrine does not permit transferring a lesser intent, such as recklessness or general intent, from one crime to a crime requiring proof of greater intent, such as specific intent); People v. Trinkle, 369 N.E.2d 888, 890 (Ill. 1977) (warning against commingling of crimes with different levels of *mens rea*, such as “attempted murder” with “other forcible felonies” because one cannot attempt to achieve an unintended result); People v. Smith, 124 P.3d 730, 739-40 (Cal. 2005) (explaining “[t]he mental state required for *attempted* murder is further distinguished from the mental state required for murder in that the doctrine of ‘transferred intent’ applies to murder but not to attempted murder”); Harrison v. State, 855 A.2d 1220, 1237 (Md. 2004) (rejecting application of the doctrine of transferred intent to attempted murder offense).

The judge’s error in equating malice and specific intent was exacerbated by his instruction that malice could be implied, even for attempted murder, and permitting the jury to infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon. See State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 610, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009) (finding error for a trial judge to instruct a jury that malice may be implied from the use of a deadly weapon where there is evidence that would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify the killing or assault and battery with intent to kill).

Unintended person

In Connecticut, like South Carolina, attempted murder requires specific intent. State v. Hinton, 630 A.2d 593, 601 (Conn. 1993). When analyzing attempted murder, the Connecticut Supreme Court explained that “[p]roof of an attempt to commit a specific offense requires proof that the actor intended to bring about the elements of the completed offense.” Id. Regarding transferred intent and attempted murder, the Connecticut court held that “[i]f the completed

offense includes an intent to kill a particular person, the attempt to kill must also include an intent to kill that same person.” Id. “Transferred intent is not needed, however, to insure that a defendant is prosecuted for attempted murder.” Id. at 600-02. “A defendant can still be prosecuted for his intent to kill and conduct aimed at killing the intended victim whether a third party is killed or no one is even injured.” Id. “The doctrine of transferred intent, generally considered a necessary fiction, is therefore not necessary to prosecute for attempted murder a defendant whose aim was poor.” Id. According to the Hinton court, the rule of lenity also required this result. Id. See also State v. Blackmon, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991) (explaining a core rule of statutory construction that “when a statute is penal in nature, it must be construed strictly against the state and in favor of the defendant”).

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