STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

SEP 26 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
The Honorable George C. James, Circuit Court Judge

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appellate Case No. 2018-001361 (Ct. App. Case No. 2015-002443)
Opinion No. 2018-UP-187 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed May 9, 2018)

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RODNEY R. GREEN,

PETITIONER.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.
Senior Assistant Attorney General

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

ARGUMENT

I. Certiorari should be denied because the Court of Appeals properly found the trial court did not abuse its discretion in giving an instruction on transferred intent in relation to the attempted murder charge. The instruction given by the trial court was proper.

Certiorari should be denied because the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's instruction regarding the application of transferred intent in relation to the attempted murder charge. Much of Green's argument in this petition was neither raised to the trial court nor to the Court of Appeals. This argument does not present a novel question of law. There was no dissent in the Court of Appeals. Contrary to Green's assertions, the Court of Appeals' opinion did not conflict with this Court's opinion in State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017). No constitutional question is presented, and no federal question was presented below.

The Court of Appeals ruled as follows:

State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 166, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009) ("This [c]ourt will not reverse the trial court's ruling regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion."); State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005) ("A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal."); State v. Williams, Op. No. 5540 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 28, 2018) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 9 at 112, 124-25) (providing that in attempted murder cases involving an unintentional victim, "South Carolina's criminal laws require the imposition of the doctrine of transferred intent"); id. at 125 ("Section 16-3-29 does not require a specific victim; instead, it states a 'person who, with the intent to kill, attempts to kill *another* person' is guilty of attempted murder." (emphasis added by court) (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (2015)); id. ("[A]s long as the State has shown the specific intent to kill or commit a murder, the identity of the victim is irrelevant."); id. at 122 ("[C]harging the doctrine of transferred intent is proper to convict a defendant of attempted murder regardless of whether a victim, intended or unintended, suffers an injury."); see also State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 272, 531 S.E.2d 512, 515 (2000) ("Although the defendant did not act with malice toward the unintended victim, the defendant's criminal intent to kill the intended victim (i.e., his mental state of malice) is transferred to the unintended victim.").

State v. Green, Opinion No. 2018-UP-187 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed May 9, 2018).

What Occurred at Trial

During the discussions regarding the jury charge, the trial court indicated that it would instruct the jury “that a specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder, but there must be a general intent to commit serious bodily injury.” (R. p. 604, ll 18-20). At that point, the State requested an instruction regarding transferred intent. (R. p. 605). The trial court indicated it would consider a proposed charge regarding transferred intent. (R. p. 605).

During this discussion, defense counsel objected, noting the requested charge went to his earlier concern regarding the State’s failure to present evidence that Mr. Jenkins was shot. (R. pp. 605-06). Defense counsel contended that it was his concern when he made his initial argument (directed verdict), that there was no evidence Mr. Jenkins was even injured by a bullet. (R. p. 606).

The trial court then discussed the Court of Appeals’ opinion in State v. King, 412 S.C. 403, 772 S.E.2d 189 (Ct.App.2015). (R. pp. 606-07). The trial court indicated that based upon King, it did not see how it could charge transferred intent. (R. p. 608).

In response, the State argued there was no conflict between having to charge specific intent and transferred intent. (R. p. 609). In support of this position, the State noted that one could be convicted of attempted murder without the victim suffering an injury. (R. p. 609).

After a brief recess, the trial court determined it would instruct the jury on the doctrine of transferred intent. (R. p. 610).

Here's what I think the appropriate interpretation of King is. The court said that a specific intent to kill is necessary. It doesn't say there has to be a specific intent to kill any certain person. And I think common sense has to prevail at some point, and I think transferred intent charge in some fashion would be appropriate.

(R. p. 610, ll 13-19). The trial court then confirmed that defense counsel objected to the decision regarding the instruction. (R. p. 610). The trial court later stated that its charge would be, “if a person with malice aforethought attempts to kill another person, but by mistake injures or kills a different person, and the defendant still has the specific intent to kill.” (R. p. 611, ll 16-20). The defense objected to the proposed instruction. (R. p. 611). Defense counsel asserted “the problem I have with the transferred intent just for the record is that, there is no evidence that my client was aiming at Mr. Archie.” (R. p. 612, ll 7-10). The trial court noted there was circumstantial evidence Green was aiming at Archie from the testimony indicating Green yelled out Archie’s nickname. (R. p. 612).

Instruction that was given

In defining the charge of attempted murder, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

Now, Ladies and gentlemen, the defendant is also charged with the offense of attempted murder. In order to prove this crime, in order for you to find the defendant guilty, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant with the intent to kill, attempted to kill another person with malice aforethought express or implied. Malice again is hatred, ill will or hostility towards another person. It's the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances the law will infer an evil intent.

Again, I am going to summarize this in just a moment. Malice aforethought just as it as with murder, is not required that malice exist for any particular time before the act is committed. But malice must exist in the mind of the defendant just before and at the time the act is committed. So there has to be a combination of the previous evil intent and the act itself.

Now the earlier instructions I gave you about express and implied malice apply to your analysis of attempted murder as well. And again, a deadly weapon is any article, instrument or substance which is likely to cause death or great bodily harm. And the earlier examples of deadly weapons apply here as well. And again, if facts are proven beyond a reasonable doubt to raise an inference of malice to your satisfaction, that inference is simply evidentiary fact you are to consider, and you give it the weight you believe it should receive.

Now, Ladies and gentlemen, on the issue of the count of attempted murder, proof of attempted murder requires proof of a specific intent to kill. Specific intent does not mean an intent to kill a specific person, but rather that the defendant consciously intended the completion of acts that comprise the act of attempted murder. And the word intent as I will tell you in more detail later, means intending the result which actually occurs and not accidentally or involuntary.

Now, Ladies and gentlemen, intent can also be shown by acts and conduct of the defendant and other circumstances from which you may naturally and reasonably infer intent. Evidence of the character of the act, the character of the instrument used, the manner in which it was used, the purpose sought to be accomplished and the resulting wounds or injuries may be considered by you in determining the intent with which the act was committed.

Now, Ladies and gentlemen, intent may also be inferred when the act — when it is demonstrated rather that the defendant voluntarily, and willfully commits an act, the natural tendency of which is to destroy another person's life. Now, Ladies and gentlemen, I further charge you that if a person with malice aforethought attempts to kill another person, but by mistake injures or kills a different person, then that person based on your view of the evidence, has the specific intent to kill. The intent to kill in that regard would be merely transferred from the original person the defendant attempted to kill, to the person who was actually killed or injured.

(R. pp. 665, 14 - 667, 118).

Discussion

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” State v. Williams, 367 S.C. 192, 195, 624 S.E.2d 443, 445 (Ct.App.2005) (quoting Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000)). Furthermore, “[t]o warrant reversal, a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 232, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245 (Ct.App.2006). “The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” Id. If there is any evidence to support the requested charge, the trial court should grant the request. Williams, at 195, 624 S.E.2d at 445. The evidence must be

reviewed in the light most favorable to appellant. State v. Cottrell, 376 S.C. 260, 262, 657 S.E.2d 451, 452 (2008).

“Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct.App.2005). If a charge is substantially correct and covers the law there is no need for reversal. Id. To warrant reversal, the refusal to give a requested charge must be erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Hill, 382 S.C. 360, 368, 675 S.E.2d 764, 768 (Ct.App.2009) (citing Zeigler, supra). “Jury instructions must be considered as a whole and, if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error.” State v. Jackson, 297 S.C. 523, 526, 377 S.E.2d 570, 572 (1989).

“A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29. “A person who, acting with malice, unleashes a deadly force in an attempt to kill or injure an intended victim should anticipate that the law will require him to answer fully for his deeds when that force kills or injures an unintended victim.” State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 276, 531 S.E.2d 512, 517 (2000).

1. Green’s argument that implied malice is not specific intent to kill was not presented at trial or on appeal to the Court of Appeals.

Green first contends the transferred intent charge conflated implied malice with a specific intent to kill. This argument was not presented at trial. (See R. pp. 605-10). Nor was this argument raised to the Court of Appeals. (See FBOA, pp. 16-23). Thus, this argument is not properly preserved for this Court’s consideration. State v. Primus, 349 S.C. 576, 583, 564 S.E.2d 103, 107 (2002), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

2. **The transferred intent jury instruction does not conflict with this Court’s opinion in State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017).**

Contrary to Green’s assertions, the Court of Appeals’ opinion in affirming the use of a transferred intent jury instruction does not conflict with this Court’s opinion in State v. King. In King, this Court held a specific intent to kill is an element of attempted murder as codified in section 16-3-29. Id. at 56, 810 S.E.2d at 22. This Court also found that instructing jury that charging a jury that specific intent is not an element of attempted murder was not harmless. Id. at 64, 810 S.E.2d at 26-7.

These determinations do not eliminate the applicability of the doctrine of “transferred intent.” In Fennell, this Court cited with approval the case of Ochoa v. State, 981 P.2d 1201 (Nev.1999) and its rationale. Fennell, 340 S.C. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 518. In Ochoa, the Court specifically applied “transferred intent” to all crimes where an **unintended victim** is harmed as a result of a defendant’s **specific intent to harm an intended victim** regardless of whether the intended victim is injured. In that case, the Nevada Court found it was appropriate to charge defendant who killed the intended victim and injured a bystander with a stray bullet with murder and attempted murder. Ochoa, 981 P.2d at 1205 (“Since there was sufficient evidence that Ochoa intended to kill Ortiz, that intent may be transferred to the unintended victim, Smith. As Smith did not die, the appropriate charge was attempted murder.”). This is the same circumstance relating to attempted murder as is present in the instant case. The appropriate charge in this case, as in Ochoa, was attempted murder.

Furthermore, Green’s contention that the doctrine of transferred intent does not apply to attempted murder appears to be based upon the mistaken belief that specific intent can only exist as to one specific intended victim. This underlying belief is not supported by the plain language of the statute or by common law. In fact, case law reflects just the opposite. For example, in

State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 531 S.E.2d 512 (2000), this Court found a defendant who killed his intended target but also injured an unrelated third party in his shooting spree was guilty of murder of the intended victim and, using the doctrine of transferred intent, ABWIK of the third party. “A person who, acting with malice, unleashes a deadly force in an attempt to kill or injure an intended victim should anticipate that the law will require him to answer fully for his deeds when that force kills or injures an unintended victim.” Fennell, 340 S.C. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 517. This Court explained the defendant's mental state,

is contained within the defendant's brain when he commits the act. That mental state never leaves the defendant's brain; it is not “transferred” from the defendant's brain to another person or place. A more apt description might be that the mental state is like a spotlight emanating from its source—the defendant's mind—to its target—the intended victim.”

Id. at 271, 531 S.E.2d at 515. Further, the "spotlight" was not extinguished at the moment a bullet strikes and killed the intended victim, but in that case shined on both victims. Id. at 271-72, 531 S.E.2d at 515. This Court noted it would be “[in]appropriate” to limit the defendant's punishment and penalty to maximum punishment of ten years' imprisonment provided under that version of the State's ABHAN statute. Id. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 518.

Similarly, this Court has found that the specific intent required to establish an attempt in the context of attempted criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second-degree also did not require proof that the intent was tied to a specific victim.

“In the context of an ‘attempt’ crime, specific intent means that the defendant consciously intended the completion of acts comprising the choate offense.” State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 397, 532 S.E.2d 283, 285 (2000). Accordingly, “[t]o prove attempt, the State must prove that the defendant had the *specific intent* to commit the underlying offense, along with some *overt act*, beyond mere preparation in furtherance of the intent.” State v. Reid, 393 S.C. 325, 329, 713 S.E.2d 274, 276 (2011) (emphasis in the original).

State v. Green, 397 S.C. 268, 283, 724 S.E.2d 664, 671–72 (2012). In Green, this Court noted the defendant was not required to complete the sexual battery in order to be prosecuted and convicted for attempted CSC with a minor in the second degree. Id. at 284, 724 S.E.2d at 672. Further, this Court found the fact that the intended victim was not an actual minor was irrelevant as the State was only required to show the defendant had the intent to commit a sexual battery on a victim between the ages of eleven and fourteen coupled with some overt act toward the commission of the offense. Id.

This reasoning holds true with the offense of attempted murder. To establish Green was guilty of attempted murder, the State had to prove he had the specific intent “to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied.” That the victim of the attempted murder was not the defendant’s intended murder victim is of no consequence as long as Green acted with the intent to murder someone when he fired the shots.

The Court of Appeals has similarly interpreted S.C. Code § 16-3-29 as not precluding the application of the doctrine of transferred intent to attempted murder.

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